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Note on Sources


This is an incomplete book. The story of the two hours between 10 pm and midnight on 6 July 1988, during which time 167 men lost their lives can never be told in its totality. There are just too many silent voices. While the effects of heat on steel can be replicated under laboratory conditions and the results extrapolated, the effect of heat and fear on a man’s character cannot be known without his testimony. We will never know the true story of each man’s final hour. The best we can do is assemble those pieces like a jigsaw, in order to reflect on the black holes that lie between.


The narrative of Fire in the Night was constructed using a number of different sources; however, the principal source of information was the two-volume report written by Lord Cullen and published in November 1990 as The Public Inquiry Into The Piper Alpha Disaster. The chronological events of 6 July 1988 and the involvement of different individuals was taken from their own detailed testimony to the inquiry, the daily verbatim records of which are available at the Scottish Archives in Charlotte Square in Edinburgh. Additional information was drawn from contemporary newspaper reports by the Scotsman, the Herald, the Aberdeen Press & Journal, the Aberdeen Evening Express, The Times, The Sunday Times and the Independent, as well as television documentaries produced by the BBC, Scottish and Grampian Television. A number of books were of crucial assistance including Piper Alpha: A Survivor’s Story by Edward Punchard (Star Books, 1989); Offshore: A North Sea Journey by A. Alverez (Hodder & Stoughton, 1986); Fool’s Gold: The Story of North Sea Oil by Christopher Harvie (Penguin, 1994); Paying For The Piper: Capital and Labour in Britain’s Offshore Oil Industry by Charles Woolfson, John Foster and Matthias Beck (Mansell Publishing, 1996); The Dark Side of Power: The Real Armand Hammer by Carl Blumay with Henry Edwards (Simon & Schuster, 1992); Hammer: Witness to History by Armand Hammer with Neil Lyndon (Simon & Schuster, 1987); Oilwork: North Sea Diaries by Sue Jane Taylor (Birlinn, 2005); The Oilmen: The North Sea Tigers by Bill Mackie (Birlinn, 2004); Rescue: The True-Life Drama of Royal Air Force Search and Rescue by Paul Beaver and Paul Berriff (Patrick Stephens Ltd, 1990); and Red Adair: An American Hero by Philip Singerman (Bloomsbury, 1989). The anatomy of the fire is drawn from: ‘The explosion and fire on the Piper Alpha platform, 6 July, 1988: A Case Study’ by D.D. Drysdale and R. Sylvester-Evans, published in the Royal Society of London in 1998. Further insight into the psychological effect of the disaster can be found in Professor David Alexander’s paper: ‘Psychiatric intervention after the Piper Alpha disaster’, published in the Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine in 1991.


An invaluable and under-publicized treasure trove of information on the North Sea industry is the Lives in the Oil Industry Oral History Project organized by Terry Brotherstone, director, and Hugo Manson, the project manager for the University of Aberdeen who conducted detailed interviews with almost 200 individuals including the late Bob Ballantyne, Sue Jane Taylor and Kate Graham.


Where dialogue appears in direct quotes, it is the individual’s recollection of the exact words spoken at the time or those of a person present. Where specific thoughts are attributed to an individual, it is on the basis that they have spoken about what they were thinking at that time.




PROLOGUE


It began on the stroke of 10 p.m. with a flash of white light and a bang that punched through the sea and sent a flotilla of sonic waves rippling down 50 feet to where a diver, Gareth Parry-Davies, was at work. While the sky above was a bruised blue and had not yet turned to black, delayed by the long light nights of high summer, Parry-Davies was resident in a darker world illuminated only by the torch attached to his yellow steel helmet. Dressed in a standard red and black diving suit, through which a network of pipes circulated hot water to shield against the sea’s bitter cold, he was firing a grit gun at a horizontal metal strut that made up one small part of the massive steel legs which descended into the blackness where they were rooted into the seabed 400 feet below. It was now forty minutes since he had been lowered inside the sphere-shaped diving bell, slipped out through the floor hatch and swum the short distance to where the metal member – which was flooded and suspected of harbouring a crack – was positioned. The noise of his own steady breathing, amplified by the bowl of the helmet, was broken up by the flow of questions, checks and the odd joke made by John Barr, the diving supervisor. This was carried down from dive control by a communication line, part of the umbilical, a thick, rubber-covered rope of multi-strands that carried hot water, air and sound, and was attached to the diver’s suit. Parry-Davies had completed about 40 per cent of the task when he was shaken by a bright white light which, despite the helmet’s lack of peripheral vision, he recognized as coming from the right.


The heavy bang was simultaneous. In his hand, the grit gun died. He began to breathe in the heavy, shallow breaths of the startled. The first suspicion was that the hose powering the grit gun had burst. He had begun to look round, catch his breath and assess the situation when twenty seconds after the first, a second bang and a larger curtain of light settled briefly over his helmet. On the intercom Parry-Davies heard Barr instruct him to ditch the tools (an indication of the severity of the situation given the cost of recovery from the seabed) abandon the job site and return immediately to the diving bell. Parry-Davies was already kicking his legs through the water, the tools tumbling into the gloom, when he received the order. He issued an instruction of his own because as he swam back to the bell he could feel by the weighty drag that the umbilical was not yet being recovered. He feared that it might snag on the various bolts and steel braces dotted around the submerged structure, but Barr said he would see to it.


The dive control room hung like a gondola underneath the main diving module, a suite of small cramped offices on the 64-foot level of the oil platform which was accessed via a ladder and an aperture in the main module floor. Barr had been knocked off his chair by the bang, which emptied shelves of their books and files. The control room was slung low so that its windows provided a clear view onto the dive skid, the metal-framed structure where divers prepared to exit and enter the sea, but now water from the sprinkler system was spraying down onto the windows and obscuring his view. However, the water would not flow for long.


Edward Amaira, a fellow diver who had been sheltering from the wind in the ‘Wendy House’, a nearby storage facility, was the first to reach the dive skid and begin to organize the retrieval of Parry-Davies. While he attempted to start up the bell winch, his colleague Joe Wells came to assist with the second winch that was used to draw up the umbilical, but Wells began to struggle. The electricity had cut out rendering the machinery inert, so the umbilical would have to be pulled up manually. Amaira lent a hand as Wells stood on the bottom railing of the handrail, reached up towards the hydraulic winch, pushed forward the lever which released the lock and allowed the wheel to spin freely. The pair then grabbed the umbilical and began to pull down. Below the surface Parry-Davies felt the drag drop, the umbilical move, and breathed a little easier.


The duo on the dive skid became a trio with the arrival of Keith Cunningham, already wearing an emergency breathing apparatus of face mask and oxygen tank. A veteran of a previous explosion four years earlier, he had been joking that they were due for a repeat just moments before it occurred. Although there was a strong smell of smoke the dive skid was clear of actual smoke for the moment, yet there was a hint of flame. The main oil line, a 30-inch steel pipe, ran horizontally above the skid. On cold days the divers would reach up and touch it to warm their hands. Oil was now running down the outside of its steel skin, while at the elbow joint – where the line turned from horizontal to vertical and then disappeared up into the floor of the next level – small orange flames darted. Catching sight of the flames served only to quicken Cunningham’s hands as he activated the bell winch, which in the event of an electrical failure was powered by compressed air.


Inside the bell, Parry-Davies was in constant communication with John Barr, who told him that he was still in ‘free time’, meaning he had not been underwater long enough to require decompression. (While diving, the gas breathed into the lungs is pumped into the bloodstream. This happens quickly under the pressure of the weight of water, but it takes longer for the lungs to filter the gas out of the bloodstream during an ascent. If the pressure is reduced too rapidly gas bubbles are trapped in the joints, cutting off the blood supply with agonizing, and potentially fatal, effect.)


When the bell was raised back onto the skid, Parry-Davies saw by the tense expression on his workmates’ faces that something was wrong, but he was not sufficiently panicked to begin quizzing them. Instead, with their silent assistance he set about stripping off his heavy gear. As Amaira was unaware of exactly how long Parry-Davies had been under, and had not heard Barr’s instructions, he followed standard procedure: the diver was to go immediately to the decompression chamber.


∗


Stan MacLeod, the diving superintendent with responsibility for the entire dive operation, had been leaning against a filing cabinet in the office of Barry Barber, his opposite number from Occidental, when the explosion occurred. He often popped in for a chat and to check on the orange and apple shoots he was cultivating in a flowerpot positioned beneath an old UVA lamp he had found in Barber’s office. Barber, meanwhile, was more interested in stock accumulation than any organic cultivation. Currency exchange was his special interest, and in quiet moments he would puff on a menthol cigarette and scan the pink pages of the Financial Times, one of the many papers delivered daily by Occidental. In the midst of a conversation between the two men and two other staff (Dick Common, Barry Barber’s clerk, and Edward Punchard, an inspection controller) the room shook, the shelves collapsed, the lights tumbled from their fixtures and a number of the ceiling’s metal panels clattered to the floor, their short drop broken by Punchard’s head.


Once they had recovered from the shock, the men began to assess the situation and be ready, if necessary, for evacuation. As Punchard set off to find a hard hat, MacLeod went looking for ‘the fuckin’ breathing apparatus’. Unable to find it, he left the office via the south exit, which took him to the decompression chambers where he saw small pieces of debris that resembled pipe lagging lying smouldering on the floor. The heavy steel door from one of the two decompression chambers lay there too, having been blown from its hinges. There was also the ‘ominous glow of flames’.


After checking that Parry-Davies was being recovered, MacLeod returned to the main office to confer with Barry Barber. He noticed that in the intervening few minutes the sprinkler system had failed to activate beyond a slight trickle. There had been no tannoy announcements; the rig, always roaring with so much activity that large plastic ear-protectors were mandatory, was ominously quiet. There was a stillness behind which, depending on a person’s proximity, could be detected the faint crackle of fire.


The standard procedure in the event of an incident was for Barry Barber to contact the radio room staff, who would then inform him of the cause of the disturbance and the safest route to a lifeboat. But it was not to turn out this way. When Barber eventually got through to the radio room, the person who answered sounded panicked, confused and unable to assist in providing a safe route. So the two men implemented their own safety system; the divers would leave the site by going along the office corridor, in through the south door and out of the north door, which would allow Barber and MacLeod to do a head count and so check that each man had been able to leave his post safely.


MacLeod then called John Barr to check on the status of Parry-Davies. Barr reported that the diver was out of the water, but he had just learned that he had been instructed in error to go into decompression. It appeared that Parry-Davies had been accompanied to the decompression chambers, which were up a flight of steel stairs, by Christopher Niven, another diver. The missing door on the first chamber forced him to use the second, whose internal lights no longer worked. He climbed in, the door was locked and, over the course of one minute, the pressure inside the chamber was blown down to the equivalent of 40 feet underwater. He sat down and then tried to relax and breathe steadily, but it was disconcerting to be locked in a steel prison in the midst of an obvious crisis.


Less than a minute later a fresh face appeared at the small window of reinforced glass and peered in. It was Stan MacLeod. He wore a face mask and breathing apparatus, and gave Parry-Davies the standard diving signal for ‘OK’ – the thumb and forefinger touching in a circle with the three remaining fingers raised. He then gave him the thumbs-up, to indicate that they were bringing him back up to atmospheric pressure.


Outside the chamber, Stan MacLeod and John Barr were both far from OK. Next to the chamber were the oxygen quads, a collection of twelve bottles (five feet six inches tall, ten inches in diameter) filled with oxygen under high pressure for use in the decompression chamber. A hose usually played over them to keep them cool, but there was no longer any water pressure. When he first arrived MacLeod had tried to cover them with a fire blanket, but burning oil had begun to drop from above on to the blanket that was now ablaze. While John Barr was at the controls of the decompression chamber, Stan MacLeod began to look around for a scaffold pole; his plan was to use it to break off the pipework attached to the chamber and so speed up the return to atmospheric pressure that would release the door and allow Parry-Davies to escape.


MacLeod was terrified. His heart was racing and his face became contorted with fear and rising panic as his search grew increasingly frantic. He was convinced that at any second the bottles, weakened by heat, would crack and that all three of them would be killed in the explosion. He did not believe they would survive.


Then suddenly the door clicked open, Parry-Davies squeezed out and the three men rushed off together.


It was 10.06 p.m.


∗


Each diver who passed through the dive control centre and had his name ticked off Barry Barber’s list bore witness to an escalating fire. As he had evacuated the dive skid and climbed the stairs to the 68ft-level, Edward Amaira was confronted by fifty drums of rig wash, a chemical substance designed for scrubbing oil off the structure, now merrily ablaze, with flames dancing three feet high above the drums. Keith Cunningham reported thick, dark clouds of smoke billowing out to the west of the rig, as well as burning debris dropping into the water. Alastair Mackay reported that the umbilicals coiled up on the dive skid were now alight. The ‘Wendy House’ would soon join the conflagration.


Like everyone else on the rig, the divers had a designated lifeboat to which they were expected to report. It was two levels up, a height of 39 feet above the dive module and situated at the north-west corner. Ed Punchard was the first to try to reach it; this entailed a walk along the cellar deck (the second lowest deck on the rig) to the corner, then up two flights of stairs, first to the 83ft-deck and then on up to the 107ft-level. En route he passed a foreman, his face smeared with soot and blood, and a rigger who was hopping while trying to support an injured leg. As Punchard reached the stairs he was stopped by three men in blue Occidental overalls coming down and carrying an injured man.


‘Forget it. It’s all blocked with smoke and fire,’ said one. So Punchard turned round and began to head back to the diving offices. From the corner he could see in the distance a fractured electrical cable jittering and jumping on the deck as burning debris fell onto the divers’ changing rooms.


When Punchard returned to the dive centre and asked if Barry Barber had been issued with a safe route by the radio room, he was told no: ‘I don’t know a thing.’ The fire developing by the gas cylinders now prevented them from going south, so once again Punchard set off along the cellar deck to the northwest corner.


Barber said he would wait until all the team had come by. If Punchard had not returned he would assume the route was safe. He then tried to lighten the mood with a joke: ‘When the rest of the lads are up we’ll be hot on your heels.’


Punchard, accompanied by another diver, Andy Carroll, set off again. The wind was blowing from the south-west, which meant that at least the corner was clear of the thick smoke now obscuring the centre of the platform. At the stairwell a group of men had gathered. While several appeared shocked, the majority proved to be calm. An injured man was receiving treatment from two colleagues; a few were looking down over the waist-high steel barrier at the grey sea 68 feet below. When one man said he didn’t think the situation could be that serious as there were no fire alarms, a colleague took a pin to his optimism and suggested that perhaps they didn’t work.


Meanwhile, Punchard was becoming concerned about an air-compressor which was racing away a few feet from where they were all standing. In the past he had seen it spit out sparks from its exhaust, and now he was worried in case it ignited a gas leak. As he began to search for an ‘off’ switch Davey Elliott, the divers’ rigging foreman (whose sooty, blood-flecked face he had passed earlier) came up to him.


‘What happened?’


‘I was on the landing stage away by the gritting-shack. Then a bleedin’ great fireball flashed over us heads. Before I knew it, I was smack flat on the ground.’


Elliott insisted he was OK and pointed out the button which Punchard was looking for. The compressor whined a little more and then died out.


It was crucial for Punchard and Carroll to get up the next two flights of stairs to their lifeboat station, and despite being reminded that their path was blocked, they headed up once more. At the top of the stairs they found that the 85ft-level now had a layer of thick black smoke, making their eyes sting and water. They moved carefully along the walkway of the west face, holding tightly to the handrail, and made for the stairway that led up to the control room. Although they could feel the heat, they could not yet see its source. Only when they had reached the middle of the walkway and looked up did they realize that the smoke was masking a ferocious fire with fingers wrapping around the pedestal that supported the rig’s crane. Up on the 107ft-level, the men’s lifeboat was visible through the smoke and flame but impossible to reach.


They turned round and headed back to the north-west corner, where the small pocket of platform which was clear of smoke had shrunk. This was unfortunate, as the number of men occupying it had increased. Earlier in the day an area had been taped off for repairs to the grating. Now Punchard ducked under the tape, jumped up and down to check the grating’s stability and then removed the tape in order to provide extra space. Derek Ellington, a fitter with the Wood Group (one of the many contractors on the platform), was talking about the noise he had heard prior to the explosion. He said it was a loud, high-pitched scream ‘like a man being gripped by his balls’. Among the group there was frenzied discussion on what to do. Voices were raised and curses rang out as the seriousness of the situation was brought home by the crackle of flame and the acrid stench of smoke. One man said they should wait for the control room to issue instructions, while another maintained that this was not going to happen.


‘You should see the fuckin’ state of the place. There’s wire hanging down everywhere. Even the bloody bulkheads have buckled in.’


When asked how the man knew, he said he had just come from there: ‘The explosion blew me straight across the fucking room on my chair.’


Smoke began to wrap around the group and Punchard grew increasingly anxious, checking the guard rail to see how quickly he could squeeze through the three bars in the event of an escalation, which seemed increasingly likely as fine, fiery embers were now mixing with the smoke. Then a loud, high-pitched scream began. Then stopped. Then began again. Punchard thought it must be escaping gas, and the group decided to head down the stairs back to the 68ft-level.


They found that the smoke there had become much greater, as had the number of men gathered at the corner. Although the divers were now all reunited, the news was not good. Parry-Davies said the ‘Wendy Hut’ was now entirely ablaze, as were the nets holding up the umbilical; one net had already broken away and fallen into the sea. Christopher Niven found a storage box containing life jackets and began to pass them up the line, but there weren’t enough to go round – thirty for a crowd numbering over forty. Once this was realized, a few divers who had received a jacket took it off and then passed it to someone else. They at least had experience of swimming in the North Sea, while some of the other men couldn’t even swim. The life jackets were orange and non-inflatable; they passed over the head and had stiff flotation compartments at the front and back, reflective stripes and a whistle.


It was clear to Stan MacLeod and Barry Barber that if they couldn’t climb up to the lifeboats they would have to scramble down. A few yards from the corner, attached to the railings but hanging over the sea, was an emergency life raft sealed inside a white plastic capsule like a small, fat man’s coffin. Keith Cunningham set about launching it. First he removed the steel pin that secured the safety straps and watched as the raft, still sealed inside the plastic capsule, tumbled down into the sea. A line which tethered the capsule to the railings was then to be pulled in order to activate a gas canister inside the raft, causing it to inflate and burst out of the capsule.


Unfortunately, although the capsule had already fallen 68 feet, Cunningham was unaware that a further 68 feet of rope still had to be pulled out until the line went taut and the canister activated. No matter how long and hard he tugged at the raft it refused to inflate. At one point it seemed that the line was taut and the capsule was now being hauled out of the water, though it might have been carried up on the back of the waves (a 5ft-swell having recently blown up). Frustrated, he abandoned his attempts when the waves carried the capsule under the rig and so rendered it inaccessible even if it had opened.


Cunningham then turned his mind to providing a communal means of escape. Beside the emergency life raft was a knotted escape rope, which he began to unwrap and lower down towards the water. This was designed as a last resort, for it meant going into the water (which even in summer remained just ten degrees) unprotected by lifeboat or raft. The act of lowering the rope sent a frisson of fear through the crowd of men who were bunched tightly together in boiler suits and orange life jackets. Escape now involved going hand-over-hand down a thick, coarse woollen rope, suspended almost 70 feet above a sea whose temperature, they had been repeatedly told, would kill them within minutes. A few men began to back away.


The first man to go down was Edward Punchard. He was thin and wiry, with dark hair and an attitude that could best be described as aggressively positive. As a result of his diver training he was also fitter than he had ever been in his life and so volunteered to source a suitable escape route. Although he tested the rope before climbing over the barrier, as soon as he swung out he and the rope suddenly dropped 10 feet before catching. Swinging violently from side to side with his feet kicking in mid-air, he nevertheless managed to hang on, and as the rope’s pendulum motion settled to a stop he caught his breath and then scrambled down through the smoke to the spider deck, a narrow metal mesh walkway that skirted the platform just 20 feet above sea level and allowed access to each of the platform’s ten steel legs. Looking up at the underside of the platform, Punchard saw the bright orange flames dance at one corner and send billows of dark, soot-grey smoke pirouetting into the night sky. He wasn’t going near the legs closest to the flames and so he followed the gangway down to leg B5, but as far as he could see it didn’t have a vertical ladder. However, further on stood B4, which did have a short ladder leading down to a boat bumper, a circular steel tube like an upside-down letter ‘L’ that projected from the leg and went down into the water as a barrier to protect the leg against careless captains and errant vessels. The fire had illuminated the sea, turning it from a forbidding grey into a warm gold. A few hundred yards distant was the thin grey Fast Rescue Craft (FRC) from the Silver Pit, the converted fishing vessel whose job was to stand sentinel over the rig in case of emergencies. Shaped like an arrowhead and crewed by four men in bright orange survival suits, the FRC could manoeuvre at high speed and was designed for close-quarters rescue.


Punchard waved to the boat, pointed to the B4 leg and watched as the FRC changed course and headed his way. It was, he thought, as easy as hailing a taxi.


Back at the 68ft-level, Stan MacLeod and Barry Barber had organized the men into a line next to the escape rope. As soon as one person climbed over the barrier and began to scramble down, MacLeod would tap the next one on the shoulder and say: ‘Right. Go!’ As the men queued they remained largely silent, standing alone with their thoughts and struggling to suppress the mounting anxiety which intensified with the noise from the fire. Standing in line, Alastair Mackay, a diving systems electrician, thought the sound resembled ‘the whole platform . . . dying’.


For the first few minutes the line moved smoothly, although those in life jackets found the climb difficult as the thick knots repeatedly stuck under the stiff flotation compartments on the front of the orange vests. A few couldn’t move when tapped on the shoulder, their legs fused by fear. Instead they stepped aside and allowed the next in line to go. However, one responded to MacLeod’s bullying and did manage to climb over. Unfortunately another worker, once on the rope and a few feet down, became petrified, suspended 60 feet above the grey waters. Unable to move down and unwilling to move back up, he held up the line until MacLeod climbed over, lowered himself down and sat on the man’s head while screaming at him to shift. He shifted. Yet once on the rope MacLeod had no choice but to continue on down himself, leaving Barber in charge of the remainder of the impromptu evacuation.


The majority of men scrambled down the rope to the rig leg where they climbed on to the FRC in groups of four or five before speeding back to the Silver Pit. Those pushed up against the metal railings on the 68ft-level were soon driven down by encroaching heat, fire and smoke to an even smaller navigation platform that hung suspended below the north-west corner. It was from here that Dick Common, a site administrator, swung out on to the rope, which was now greasy with the sweat of dozens of clammy hands. After lowering himself for a short distance, he felt his feet begin to lose their purchase and he adjusted them, but in the process felt his hands slip. He barely had time to scream as he fell from 40 feet, struck the boat bumper and splashed into the water. Shocked, his colleagues above began to yell, shout and wave their arms in a desperate attempt to attract the attention of the FRC crew in the waters below. They then pointed repeatedly in the direction where Common had splashed down, and were relieved when the craft changed course and headed towards the spot.


Once Keith Cunningham had climbed down to the 20ft-walkway he stayed there to hold the rope and assist the older guys, men in their late forties and early fifties. Some were a little overweight, and frightened to be swinging out over the sea with nothing but a rope and their own strength to support them. He held on until Barry Barber came down, thinking he was one of the last. Just two men now remained, seemingly too frightened to move as they crouched down together against the railings of the navigation deck. Cunningham kept looking up at them and shouting for them to come down, but they didn’t move and eventually were covered in a shroud of smoke.


Then Cunningham heard a tremendous din, a noise so loud it seemed to shake him to the core. He spun round and was able to utter only a single word to Barry Barber, who was also standing on the walkway, before immediately launching himself into space.


‘Jump.’


A second massive explosion had occurred which, like the instant inflation of the canopy of a large hot-air balloon, sent a ball of curling white and orange flame along the underside of the rig and into Cunningham’s path.


He appeared to fall through flame and then sink ten feet or so into the sea’s chill. Looking up from under the surface as if through a murky pane of glass, he could see a bright light and feared surfacing, but had no choice but to rise and breathe. Once he broke the surface he saw, and felt, that the sea had been sprayed with oil and bright yellow flames surrounded him. The air above the water had become superheated to over 200 degrees and was, he thought, like putting your head in a roasting oven. He took a deep breath, dived back down, and once under the water began to kick away from the rig.


John Barr had been climbing down the rungs of the ladder towards the sea when the explosion sent men racing down after him, pushing and shoving to clear the way to the icy water and a respite from the heat that was prickling and burning their skin. In the water a total of six men, including Barr and Christopher Niven, were struggling to put the steel boat bumper between them and the intense heat, clinging to the steel pipe and pressing their faces against it as a protective barrier, then ducking their heads under the water every few seconds to keep cool as their faces began to burn. They looked up as chunks of burning debris, some the size of a small car, fell into the water. The FRC retreated in the face of the flames. On-board was Richard Common, who had been dragged shaking and spluttering over the side of the craft a minute or so before the blast and was now wedged on the floor, peering out through tiny portholes at the flames and convinced that at any second they would all be engulfed by the fireball.


At the boat bumper, the men found that the waves had such force that simply holding on to the ladder required all their strength. Chris Niven was carried up and down by the swell. He looked out and saw Barry Barber about fifteen feet to the west, struggling to hold on to a steel strop. It was clear that Barber had no protection from the heat and Niven thought: ‘Hell, what’s he doing there? Can’t he swim towards us?’


Then Niven was again carried up and down by the waves. The next time he looked Barber was gone.


∗


On the deck of the Silver Pit the first few rescued men stood and watched, unable to quite believe what they saw. The fishing vessel was stern on, 200 metres from the south side. The wind blowing the thick black smoke away to the north revealed that flames ran almost from the surface of the sea, up in a thick band under the platform, enveloping it, then roared on up around the drilling derrick before flourishing three or four hundred feet above the rig’s highest point and into the night sky. A solid wall of heat, almost tangible, now butted against their faces. The rope handrails were smouldering. Through the heat-haze shimmer, they could glimpse figures on different levels of the platform, a fraction of the 200 men still on board.


It was 10.20 p.m. Twenty minutes earlier Gareth Parry-Davies had been under the surface. Now he stood on the ship’s deck, still in his diving suit, and looked out at Piper Alpha. ‘I can recall this terrible feeling – I had this feeling that the platform was finished then, that nothing was going to put that fire out.’




PART ONE


ONE YEAR EARLIER




1. PORTRAIT OF AN ARTIST AS A YOUNG RIGGER


‘Small’ said the man behind the counter as he looked the young woman up and down before heaving the orange rubber suit onto the counter top. She smiled, struggled to pick it up and then moved over to the benches to change. It was just after 6 o’clock in the morning and the helicopter hub at Dyce Airport in Aberdeen was packed with unshaven, scruffy men carrying duffel bags and the scent of last night’s spirits. As alcohol was forbidden offshore, with each man’s bag searched for secret supplies, it was traditional to begin two weeks’ abstinence with one final night of abundance. She thought that some men were beating the ban by carrying alcohol on board still coursing through their veins. They weren’t drunk enough to be ejected by security, but she certainly wouldn’t trust them to drive. Outside, the men’s various ‘rides’ queued to lift off from the world’s busiest heliport. Pumas and Sikorsky S-61s, draped in the red, white and blue of the Bristow company, sat alongside the large white Chinooks of British Airways. Today she was flying in the smaller chopper of British Caledonian helicopters with its livery of gold, white and blue. If, that is, she could ever get into the survival suit.


In the early days of the North Sea oil industry, when companies sped offshore leaving safety regulations struggling to catch up, men would wear jeans and jumpers, or even a suit on the flights out to distant rigs and platforms. These were journeys where there is no place to land in case of emergency except a sea whose temperature rarely rose above ten degrees, even at the height of summer. Today, the stiff, rubber-lined survival suit with its bewildering array of zips and flaps was the mandatory dress code. Like a baby’s romper suit, it was an all-in-one with bootees over which you put your own shoes. First you had to step into the lower half, then squeeze your head through a neck-hole as tight as a strangler’s grip and force your hands through wrist seals like handcuffs. On the right shoulder, like a small one-eyed parrot, sat a strobe light which, in the event of ditching, was to be fitted onto the accompanying hood.


Once she had completed the sartorial obstacle course designed to ensure her survival, she waited for the flight to be called. She was one of only two women in a room full of tired, bleary-eyed men whom she then followed out onto the tarmac, up the steps and into the cabin, ducking instinctively although the rotor-blades were at least six feet above her head. There was a central aisle with one line of single seats on either side, and she took a seat towards the back before putting on the orange earphones provided. The din of the engine and rotors, already loud and making conversation impossible, rose to the point of pain in preparation for take-off. The helicopter then began to rock before rising straight up a dozen feet, the nose dipping down slightly as the craft swung away over the grey concrete of the airport and the granite terraces of Aberdeen. In a minute the grey of the city was replaced by the green and brown of passing fields, the brief white strip of beach whizzing past before the view was embraced by the blue of the North Sea.


Familiarity may not breed contempt but it nurtures indifference, so the men on board ignored the view and, instead, tilted their heads back to sleep or forward into the folds of a newspaper or pages of a book. But she preferred to look out of the window and down on to the water speckled with white cresting waves. When the helicopter rose into the clouds, she pulled out a Pentax MX camera and focused the lens on the bearded, balding man across the aisle. The shutter closed with a click, soft enough not to wake him from his slumber. The men on-board the early-morning flight to Piper Alpha were on their way to work, and so was she.


With her hair dyed orange and spiked, the only similarity between the artist Sue Jane Taylor and the ‘bears’ who worked offshore was an appreciation for warm woollen knitwear. A fine art graduate of Gray’s School of Art in Aberdeen, Taylor went on to complete a scholarship at the prestigious Konsthogskolan art school in Stockholm, after completing postgraduate work at the Slade School in London where, in the summer of 1987, she was currently employed. Born in Dingwall in 1960, she was raised with her elder brother and sisters amid the remoteness of the Black Isle, in the small village of Munlochy, where her father owned a Spar franchise and kept bees.


As a child, Sue Jane was as interested in local history as she was in her fledgling experiments with oil and watercolours. Like the rest of her community, she watched in amusement and awe as the landscape was transformed when the Nigg construction yard on the Cromarty Firth opened in the early 1970s and began rolling out the ‘cathedrals of steel’ as the rigs and platforms were soon christened. She was not the first family member to pursue art. Her elder sister, Romy, had attended Edinburgh College of Art before withdrawing after a breakdown which was later diagnosed as schizophrenia. It was an experience that prompted Sue Jane to stay closer to home for her studies, favouring Aberdeen over Edinburgh. There, in pubs like the Prince of Wales, she and her fellow students learned to recognize the offshore worker by the cut of his designer jeans, the scent of his strong cologne and the addition to the usual gents’ wardrobe of cowboy boots – usually two sizes too big – and an ostentatious cigar.


Art and the offshore world drifted together for Sue in 1984 when Peter Wordie, chairman of the Stirling Shipping Company and a passionate art collector whose father had been a geologist on Ernest Shackleton’s expedition to the South Pole between 1914 and 1917, invited her to take part (with other artists) in celebrating the company’s tenth anniversary in the lucrative work that lay behind the horizon.


Five days in the depth of winter on a cramped supply vessel running out to the rigs might have left other artists pitching in their shared cabin and dreaming of pastoral landscapes bathed in a warm and golden light; but for Sue, her time spent on-board the Stirling Teal was to prove an epiphany. The experience of drawing up at midnight to an oil platform’s massive steel legs and watching as, under spotlights, the crane driver timed the descent of his hook with the Teal’s rise on the wave crest, served to open her eyes to a world where nature and industry collided and squeezed men to their limits. Surely this was as deserving of artistic representation as anything on land, even more so given the public’s ignorance of what is required to enable them to fill up a car or boil an egg. Three large etchings emerged from the trip, but as Sue sailed back into Aberdeen harbour it was with the ambition to take the industry’s impression in oil, sculpture and paint.


While working as a teaching assistant at the Slade School, Sue would contact the headquarters of oil companies and request permission to visit their sites, using the £5,000 presented by the Glenfiddich Living Scotland Award (a grant to support artists in their work) to cover her costs. In August 1986 Occidental arranged for her to visit the company’s oil terminal on the Orcadian island of Flotta, and now, a year on, she was en route to spend five days on the company’s most profitable platform.


The helicopter dropped down below the clouds and Sue could look out on the sea again and spot the great haddock trawlers now reduced to toy boats in a bath. Then, as her eyes scanned along the surface, she could see in the distance a structure rising from the sea, like a distant city on the edge of a vast plain. She couldn’t help but feel a frisson of excitement. It was, she thought, like coming in to land at a spaceport. She could see men walking around the steel structure as the helicopter circled and dropped down to land on the helideck, which from a distance resembled a 50 pence piece on an outstretched palm.


Sue shuddered as the helicopter touched down, then unfastened her seat belt, packed away her camera and followed the men out of the door. The wind blew in her face. It was a bright, clear morning, not yet 10 o’clock, and she stopped to take in the view from the most expensive real estate on the planet. In the air seagulls circled with cormorants, while in the waters below the standby vessel bobbed on its perpetual voyage, like the minute hand on a clock, round and round the platform.


The platform itself was a bewildering maze of metal parts which at one angle appeared futuristic, while at another seemed strangely medieval in its raw, unvarnished functionality. The derrick resembled a lighthouse peeled of its stone skin to reveal the steel skeleton beneath, while the twin flares reached out from either side of the platform like a greedy child’s outstretched arms.


A dark-haired slightly balding man, with relaxed shoulders and a pleasant face framed by glasses, came up to meet her. Colin Seaton, a 51-year-old Yorkshireman, was the platform’s Off-shore Installation Manager (OIM), the ‘captain’ of the platform, with authority over everyone on-board and all oil and gas operations. A veteran employee with Occidental, he helped Taylor out of her survival suit and led her downstairs to ‘A’ level, where he had his office and a cabin had been reserved for the duration of her stay. The cabin was small, but not uncomfortable, with two bunk beds pushed against one wall, a small chest of drawers and a shower and toilet area. The small porthole window offered a sea view – as did every window on the platform – and came equipped with a colourful set of orange curtains.


After unpacking her inks, sketchpads, Conté sticks, camera and tripod, Taylor headed back upstairs where Seaton had arranged for her to lunch with the platform’s medic, Gareth Watkin, and Trisha, the only other woman on the flight, who was in charge of statistics for safety standards.


The canteen – or galley as it was known – was on the top floor, directly beneath the helideck. It was a long rectangular room; along one wall ran windows draped with gingham curtains, through which light flooded to the benefit of the potted plants. Two large chill cabinets contained an array of cakes, trifles and individual fruit salads. Along the opposite wall, the hot food service offered a banquet of steak, roasts, fresh fish, an assortment of potatoes and heaped bowls of salad, all freshly prepared in the kitchen which lay behind. Taylor collected a tray, chose the fish, then joined the pair at one of the two dozen formica-topped tables, pulling up a metal chair with a cushioned seat.


Watkin was tall and thin, with a greying moustache. A former merchant seaman, he had ‘found God’ and used his faith to see him through each two-week shift and the grisly accidents which he occasionally had to attend. Looking around the room, Taylor considered it quite a pleasant place to eat. She glanced over at the men queuing for their food, then looked up and smiled. Above the kitchen gantry was a piece of glass on which was engraved a highland piper in full skirl. Nice touch, she thought.


After lunch she was passed on to Jack Patience, the head safety officer, who led her down to the lifeboat to which she had been designated during her stay. Safe in the knowledge of how she should get off, it was time for the grand tour so that she would understand, or at least begin to comprehend, exactly what she was on.


Colin decided to start at the equivalent of the ‘coal face’ where the dirty work was done. From his office the pair set out across the narrow gangway that covered the pipe deck and then headed down to the drilling floor where they stood beneath the drilling derrick, the tip of which, he explained, stood 289 feet above the sea. It was here, he informed Sue, shouting over the din, that the muddy, physical act of oil extraction began. It was here, as she could see by the men moving around her, that the ‘roughnecks’ – the assistants to the driller – toiled with their overalls, gloves and boots, quickly becoming coated in the pungent, greasy drilling ‘mud’. The ‘mud’, which Colin scooped up in a gloved hand to show her, was in fact an artificial construct of different chemicals. ‘We use it to cool the drilling bit and prevent the hole from collapsing before it can be lined with steel pipes,’ he shouted over the noise.


During the past decade 36 separate wells had been dug from the drill floor down into different reservoirs. While on a diagram each hole radiates neatly away from the rig, the reality is that 9,000 feet below the seabed lay a jumble of pipelines which Colin said had the clean precise lines of a plate of spaghetti. Using computer-controlled directional drilling, the ‘toolpushers’ – drillers – are, or so it was joked, actually trying to autograph their names underneath the platforms while drilling each well.


When drilling a new well – or deepening an old one – the roughnecks regularly have to perform a ‘round-trip’, which involves pulling the entire 9,000 feet of drill string back up the hole to change the drill bit, described by one poet as ‘like a great clenched fist with cogged teeth where the bent fingers should be’. The pipe is hauled up in lengths of 30 feet, three lengths at a time, using a large hook and swivel attached to a wire rope that runs up to the top of the derrick, over a pulley and back down to a giant drum on the drill floor. For the twelve hours this journey can take, the roughnecks clamp tongs round each three-length section of five-inch pipe while a rotary table spins and unscrews it. The pipe is then leaned against the side of the derrick.


Colin explained that the temperature in the oil reservoir was around 200 degrees Fahrenheit, and that the pipes emerge still steaming with heat. Once the ‘round trip’ is complete, it is tradition for roughnecks to spit down the hole. When Piper Alpha embarked on drilling operations the entire platform would vibrate, sometimes violently enough to topple a tea cup.


Bidding goodbye to the crew, and promising to return to document their work, Sue and Colin then left the drill floor and headed for the module deck, a series of closed areas beneath the drill deck where the majority of the platform’s machinery is stored. The next stop on the tour was what happened after each new well had been drilled. He led her into A Module, a low open room where Sue looked at a series of 36 pipes which rose out of the steel floor in three ranks of twelve, each one topped with a complicated contraption resembling a large tilted steel cube. It was painted silver with red and yellow pipes sprouting from the side, out of which grew various gauges and dials. Colin explained that these were known as the ‘Christmas trees’.


Although the level of detail was becoming overwhelming, her guide had such evident pride in his platform that Sue persevered, nodding along when she should, if she was honest, be shaking her head. Standing in the midst of the room, Colin looked out at the forest of ‘trees’ and explained that after a well has been drilled, and the reservoir tapped, the hole is then lined with casings cemented into the rock. The pipe – or conductor as it is known – that runs from the well head on the platform down through 474 feet of seawater, then a further 300 feet of seabed, is one inch thick and 30 inches in diameter; but the deeper the well the narrower the pipe casing becomes, until the piece that punches into the reservoir and draws up the oil at the beginning of its long journey to the surface has a diameter of just seven inches.


She listened as Colin went on to explain that the coloured pipes on one side of the Christmas tree control the flow of the oil and gas from each well, while those on the other side are ‘kill pipes’ put in place to shut down the well should any problem occur. This was achieved by pumping into the stricken well a high-density drilling mud that was heavy enough to push down the pressure in the well which brought the oil and gas to the surface.


The pair then followed the pipes north and into B Module to the process module, a refinery of silver pipes and large cylinders in which the gas was separated from the oil in a process that left Taylor’s head spinning. At the west end of the module she was shown the Main Oil Line (MOL) pumps. The next room, C Module, was the gas compression module, where at the east end sat three centrifugal compressors, each in its own separate enclosure and equipped with a turbine.


At the north end was D Module, where the power for the platform was generated by two giant John Brown generators whose massive exhausts projected out of the north side to the platform like two steel garbage chutes for giants. Up above, on a mezzanine level, sat the control room through whose glass-fronted doors she had yet to pass.


∗


The tour had been conducted while Sue was wearing trainers, and she had repeatedly slipped on the metal grille walkways which were still slick from the recent rain. When she returned to Seaton’s office, Jack Patience called the company’s office in Aberdeen and asked for a proper pair of leather, steel-toe-capped boots, in the correct size, to be brought out on the next flight. Meanwhile Colin Seaton, having listened to what Taylor hoped to achieve, agreed that rather than be tied down by a chaperon she could go where she liked, whenever she liked, a concession few other OIMs would even consider. But not until she was suitably shod, he emphasized.


While waiting for the flying boots to land, Taylor wandered round the interior, slowly familiarizing herself with the various accommodation blocks which over time had been bolted together and connected by a labyrinth of corridors. To the new arrival each corridor appeared identical, with the same dull grey carpets, blue-washed walls and repetitious rows of cabin doors, only the small numbers providing any sign of individuality. She stopped and took a picture at the bond shop, a tiny kiosk barely big enough for its moustached attendant, but where the shelves were stacked with chocolate bars, cigarettes, cigars, perfume and packets of Fisherman’s Friends.


At 28, Sue was an attractive woman and received enough furtive glances and broad smiles from the men to ask a group of workers, waiting in the despatch area for a delayed flight, what they thought of women working offshore. No one was in favour. While most insisted that the work (heavy, dirty and exhausting) was unsuitable for a woman, a few also explained that their wives wouldn’t like the competition. The ‘competition’ was reduced by one when Occidental’s safety officer departed around teatime, leaving Taylor as the only woman trapped on a steel island with 160 men. Tony the chef, a gregarious character with a wrinkled face partially hidden by thick silver spectacles, took delight in pointing this out when she returned to the galley for the evening meal. In his white hat, pristine chef’s jacket and striped trousers – an ensemble set off with a jauntily angled blue neckerchief – Tony was among the smartest-dressed men on board. He was also among the most forward, quickly dubbing her ‘sunshine’ and regaling her with the tonnage of beef, fish, potatoes, vegetables and other kitchen supplies that required to be shipped out each week in order to keep the men well fed. He said it used to be better in the early days, when T-bone steaks the size of a plate were served up nightly, but oil prices had slumped and there was cost cutting across the board.


Offshore life, as Taylor learned, hinged on a set routine. At the end of a twelve-hour day shift, which usually finished at 6 or 7 p.m., men would shower and then head to the canteen for dinner. Afterwards the recreational options were limited. The games room was equipped with table tennis and a full-size snooker table on which breaks of one hundred plus were not uncommon, given the practice some players put in each night. There was also a small library that operated a ‘one in, one out’ system, requiring workers to return a book before they could take one out, with Westerns roaming all across the shelves, followed by detectives. Porn mags were openly exchanged and deemed more acceptable reading material than the union literature, which was treated furtively by comparison.


The cinema, which could accommodate sixty in tiered seating, showed a different movie each night, including hard-core sex films. These were illegal in Britain, but brought in by Norwegian workers and popular with the men, who reserved their places by leaving a banana or a book on their seat of choice. Taylor was relieved to discover that the evening’s film was not Debbie Does Dallas but 84 Charing Cross Road, the story of an epistolary friendship between two middle-aged bibliophiles which, unsurprisingly, had failed to prompt a rush or even a single ‘reservation’ banana. When she looked in, the room was half empty.
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